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Present: The Honorable PERCY ANDERSON, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

G. Garcia Not Reported N/A

Deputy Clerk Court Reporter Tape No.

Attorneys Present for Plaintiffs: Attorneys Present for Defendants:

None None

Proceedings: IN CHAMBERS - COURT ORDER

Before the Court is a Motion to Dismiss filed by defendant Mid City Cannabis Club d/b/a/ La
Brea Collective (“Defendant”).  (Dkt. No. 27.)  Plaintiff Joshua Matthews (“Plaintiff”) filed an
Opposition (Dkt. No. 28) and Defendant filed a Reply (Dkt. No. 29).  Pursuant to Rule 78 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Rule 7-15, the Court finds this matter appropriate for decision
without oral argument. 

I. Background

As alleged in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), Plaintiff visited Defendant’s
store in December of 2019.  (SAC ¶ 37.)  Beginning around December of 2019, Plaintiff “began
receiving unsolicited telemarketing text messages from Defendant” to Plaintiff’s cell phone.  (Id. ¶ 24.) 
The first text message from Defendant says: “We loved seeing you at La Brea Collective today!  You
now have a total of 141 points!  Click the link below to view your wallet.  Reply STOP 5057 to cancel.” 
(Id.)  The second text message from Defendant says: “Friendly reminder not to miss out on
TOMORROW’S FARMERS MARKET on 12/21!  Come shop special holiday deals . . . we’re open 365
DAYS A YEAR 10am-10pm.  Hope you enjoy the holidaze- see you soon!  VIEW FLYER HERE.” 
(Id.)  Plaintiff “estimates that Defendant sent dozens of automated marketing text messages to Plaintiff
in or around December of 2019 advertising upcoming sales and discounts.”  (Id. ¶ 25.)  

Plaintiff alleges that “after receiving a text on January 1, 2020, Plaintiff replied with the word
“Stop” on January 4, 20211 in an effort to “utilize the automated process to opt-out of any further
communications with Defendant in accordance with the opt-out instructions included in the January 1,
2020 text.”  (Id. ¶ 27.)  Plaintiff includes a screen shot of the text message.  (Id. ¶ 28.)  Plaintiff alleges
Defendant’s “automated instant reply to Plaintiff’s ‘Stop’ request demonstrates that the system
Defendant used to transmit the subject message is an [automatic telephone dialing system (‘ATDS’)].” 
(Id. ¶ 29.)  

1 In Plaintiff’s SAC, Plaintiff alleges he sent the text message “Stop” on January 4, 2020. 
Plaintiff later states in his Opposition that he meant to say he sent the text message “Stop” on January 4,
2021.  
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Plaintiff alleges that “other individuals received text message that were the same or substantially
similar to the content of the text messages received by Plaintiff.”  (Id. ¶ 38.)  As evidence of this,
Plaintiff states that “consumers on-line regularly complain that companies like Defendant regularly
transmit automated spam text messages.”  (Id.)  Plaintiff’s SAC cites to a Redit blog where people have
posted complaints about southern California dispensaries texting them.  (Id. fn. 1.)  Plaintiff states that
“[f]urther proving that an ATDS was used, publicly available data show that the telephone number,
starting with area code ‘844’ used by Defendant to text Plaintiff and members of the putative class is not,
and was not during the relevant time frame, registered to any specific individuals or entities in the
traditional sense, and it is not linked with a particular mobile carrier.”  (Id. ¶ 40.)  In addition,
“customers have even dubbed the many marketing scams and spam texting campaigns that have been
initiated from these ‘844’ numbers as the “Area Code 844 Scam.”  (Id.)  Plaintiff cites to an article
discussing phone calls received from an 844 number.  (Id. fn. 2.)  

Plaintiff alleges that the “form and content of the messages, as well as the surrounding
circumstances demonstrate that Defendant utilized ATDS to transmit the messages.”  (Id. ¶ 44.) 
According to Plaintiff, “the impersonal and generic nature of the message[s] demonstrates that
Defendant utilized an ATDS in transmitting the messages.”  (Id. ¶ 45.)  Second, Plaintiff alleges “the use
of an ATDS is supported by the fact that all of the text messages encourage Plaintiff to reply or interact
with the message by typing in a one or two-word response or visiting a promotion website by clicking on
the hyperlink embedded in the message.”  (Id. ¶ 46.)  “Moreover, all of the text messages contain generic
opt-out instructions to the recipient.”  (Id. ¶ 47.)  According to Plaintiff, “[b]ecause the text messages
ask Plaintiff to respond with a one word or generic response to interact with the message, and also
request that Plaintiff visit various hyperlinks embedded in the message itself to view promotions, the
messages contain classic indicators than an ATDS was used.”  (Id. ¶ 47.)  According to Plaintiff, this
“inference is further strengthened by the fact that after Plaintiff opted-out, he received an automated
response from Defendant within seconds of his opt-out request.”  (Id. ¶ 49.)  According to Plaintiff,
“[t]he ability to respond within seconds of receiving an opt-out request is a characteristic normally
associated with computer-based autodialers, not a manually dialed phone.”  (Id.)  

According to Plaintiff’s FAC, the text messages originated from a number used by Defendant
(844-694-0474) known as a “‘long code,’ a standard 10-digit code that enables Defendant to send SMS
text messages en masse, while deceiving recipients into believing that the message was personalized and
sent from a telephone number operated by an individual.”  (Id. ¶ 52.)

Plaintiff brings this case as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.  (Id. ¶ 
70.)  Plaintiff seeks to represent the following class: 

No Consent Class: All persons in the United States who, within four years
prior to the filing of this action, (1) were sent a text message by or on
behalf of Defendant, (2) using an automatic telephone dialing system, (3)
for the purpose of soliciting Defendant’s goods and services, (4) without
prior express consent of the receipt, or with the same manner of purported
consent Defendant claims to have obtained from Plaintiff, if any.  
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(Id. ¶ 71.)  

Plaintiff brings claims on behalf of the class for (1) violations of the Telephone Consumer
Protection Act (“TCPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 227(b), and (2) knowing and/or willful violation of the TCPA, 42
U.S.C. § 227(b).  

On November 6, 2020 the Court dismissed Plaintiff’s original Complaint for failure to state a
claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).  On December 29, 2020, the Court
dismissed Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint for failure to state a claim pursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).  Defendant argues the claims in Plaintiff’s SAC should similarly be dismissed
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).  

II. Legal Standards

For purposes of a Motion to Dismiss brought pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6), plaintiffs in federal court are generally required to give only “a short and plain statement of the
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a).  While the Federal Rules allow
a court to dismiss a cause of action for “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted,” they
also require all pleadings to be “construed so as to do justice.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), 8(e).  The
purpose of Rule 8(a)(2) is to “give the defendant fair notice of what the . . . claim is and the grounds
upon which it rests.”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  The Ninth Circuit is
particularly hostile to motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6).  See, e.g., Gilligan v. Jamco Dev. Corp.,
108 F.3d 246, 248 49 (9th Cir. 1997) (“The Rule 8 standard contains a powerful presumption against
rejecting pleadings for failure to state a claim.”) (internal quotation omitted).

However, in Twombly, the Supreme Court rejected the notion that “a wholly conclusory
statement of a claim would survive a motion to dismiss whenever the pleadings left open the possibility
that a plaintiff might later establish some set of undisclosed facts to support recovery.”  Twombly, 550
U.S. at 561 (internal quotation omitted).  Instead, the Court adopted a “plausibility standard,” in which
the complaint must “raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of [the alleged
infraction].”  Id. at 556.  For a complaint to meet this standard, the “[f]actual allegations must be enough
to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”  Id. at 555 (citing 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal
Practice and Procedure §1216, pp. 235 36 (3d ed. 2004) (“[T]he pleading must contain something more
. . . than . . . a statement of facts that merely creates a suspicion [of] a legally cognizable right of action”)
(alteration in original)); Daniel v. County of Santa Barbara, 288 F.3d 375, 380 (9th Cir. 2002) (“All
allegations of material fact are taken as true and construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party.”).  “[A] plaintiff’s obligation to provide the grounds of his entitlement to relief requires more than
labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.” 
Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555 (internal quotations omitted).  In construing the Twombly standard, the
Supreme Court has advised that “a court considering a motion to dismiss can choose to begin by
identifying pleadings that, because they are no more than conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption
of truth.  While legal conclusions can provide the framework of a complaint, they must be supported by
factual allegations.  When there are well-pleaded factual allegations, a court should assume their veracity
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and then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relief.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556
U.S. 662, 679 (2009).

III. Analysis

The TCPA makes it unlawful for “any person . . . to make any call (other than a call made . . .
with prior express consent of the called party) using any [ATDS] . . . to any telephone number assigned
to a . . . cellular telephone service.”  47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii).  “Although the TCPA does not define
a ‘call,’ the Federal Communications Commission has interpreted the TCPA to ‘encompass[] both voice
calls and text calls to wireless numbers including, for example, short message service (SMS) calls,’
which are generally referred to as text messages.”  Van Patten v. Vertical Fitness Group LLC, 847 F 3d
1037, 1042 (9th Cir. 2017).

The TCPA defines an ATDS as “equipment which has the capacity - (A) to store or produce
telephone numbers to be called, using a random or sequential number generator; and (B) to dial such
numbers.”  47 U.S.C. § 29(a)(1).  According to Defendant, there are insufficient allegations to support
Plaintiff’s claim that an ATDS was used to send out the text message at issue.  

For text messages, courts consider various factors, none of which is dispositive, in assessing the
plausibility of the use of an ATDS.  For example courts look at: (1) the nature of the messages, (2) the
number or frequency of the messages, (3) the ability to respond to or interact with the text messages, (4)
the relationship between the parties, (5) whether identical messages were sent to many potential
customers at the same time, and (6) whether an SMS short code or long code was used to send the text. 
Schley v. One Planet Ops Inc., 445 F. Supp. 3d 454, 459-60 (N.D. Cal. 2020).  

In Plaintiff’s SAC, Plaintiff added two additional allegations which Plaintiff states further
suggest an ATDS was used to send the two text messages at issue to Plaintiff.  First, Plaintiff alleges
Defendant’s “automated and instant reply to Plaintiff’s ‘Stop’ request demonstrated that the system
Defendant used to transmit the subject messages is an ATDS because the response was instant.”  (SAC ¶
29.)  The Court agrees that the immediate response from Defendant at least plausibly suggests ATDS
was used.  The Ninth Circuit’s reasoning in Flores v. Adir Int’l, LLC, for example, is particularly
relevant here.  685 Fed. Appx. 533, 533 (9th Cir. 2017).  In Flores, the plaintiff alleged that “every time
[he] received [a] text message [from Adir], he sent a text message back to Adir saying ‘Stop,’ and after
sending that message, he ‘almost immediately’ received another text message from Adir stating that he
would no longer receive text messages from Adir.”  Id.  The Ninth Circuit reversed the district court’s
dismissal of plaintiff’s TCPA claim, finding the allegations were sufficient to create a reasonable
inference that an ATDS was used in violation of the TCPA.  Id. at 534.  

Second, Plaintiff alleges that the “telephone number, starting with area code ‘844’ used by
Defendant to text plaintiff and members of the putative class is not, and was not during the relevant time
frame, registered to any specific individuals or entities in the traditional sense, and is not linked with a
particular mobile carrier.”  (SAC ¶ 40.)  “In other words, this telephone number is not owned by an
individual for ordinary telephone purposes but is a commercial ‘long-code’ number bought and sold for
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purposes of running campaigns similar to the one Defendant ran here.”  (Id.)  As alleged by Plaintiff, this
“number can be, and has been, bought and sold on the open market.”  (Id.)  The Court again finds these
additional allegations make it at least plausible that an ATDS was used to send the text messages to
Plaintiff.  See Schley v. One Planet Ops, Inc., 445 F. Supp. 3d 454, 460 (N.D. Cal. 2020) (noting that the
use of a “long code . . . 844 number . . . associated with an out-going text messaging only line” can
support the use of an autodialer.)  

Because the Court must construe and draw all reasonable inferences from factual allegations in
favor of the nonmoving party, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s additional allegations provide at least a
plausible inference that an ATDS was used.  Ass’n for Los Angeles Deputy Sheriffs v. County of Los
Angeles, 648 F.3d 986, 991 (9th Cir. 2011) (When ruling on a motion to dismiss, a district court must
“construe the pleadings in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party” and must “draw[] all
reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff.”)  

Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s SAC is denied. 

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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